1981

# Steven L. Malan v. James C. Lewis and Brett Lewis : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

The Appellant was a guest passenger riding in an automobile being driven by Respondent, Brett Lewis.

The parties entered into a written Stipulation in the lower court stipulating as to negligence, contributory negligence, and damages.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Honorable John F. Wahlquist granted Respondents' Motion For Summary Judgment.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Appellant is requesting that the lower court's decision be reversed, and that a judgment be granted to

Appellant pursuant to the stipulated damages in the amount of \$15,000 and costs.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

It was stipulated in this action in the lower court that the Respondent was negligent, the Appellant free from contributory negligence, Appellant's damages exceeded \$15,000; and that, under the Utah Guest Statute, §41-9-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, the action would be barred. The prior Utah Supreme Court cases of Milligan v. Harward, 355 P.2d, 62, and Ricciuti v. Robison, 269 P.2d, 282, which are similar factual situations, would cause the court to have to deny recovery. The only issue to be decided is the present constitutionality of our guest statute. The trial court granted Respondents' Motion For Summary Judgment.

The Respondent, through inattention, ran off the road, struck the guard rail, causing the Appellant to sustain compound fractures of his right leg decreasing its length and requiring the wearing of a brace for the remainder of his life. His actual damages would be several times \$15,000, but this was the extent that any insurance recovery could be collected from the driver, who is Appellant's cousin.

#### ARGUMENT

There have been numerous assaults on the so called "guest statutes" in various states and in the State of Utah.

This law had been enacted originally in 27 states between 1922 and 1939 because of the lobbying efforts of the liability insurance companies. It now has been declared unconstitutional or repealed in 17 of those 27 states. Utah's Guest Statute, §41-9-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides in part as follows:

"Responsibility of owner or driver of a vehicle to guest.---Any person who as a guest accepts a ride in any vehicle, moving upon any of the public highways of the state of Utah, and while so riding as such guest receives or sustains an injury, shall have no right of recovery against the owner or driver or person responsible for the operation of such vehicle. . . . Nothing in this section shall be construed as relieving the owner or driver or person responsible for the operation of a vehicle from liability for injury to or death of such guest proximately resulting from the intoxication or willful misconduct of such owner, driver or person responsible for the operation of such vehicle; . . ."

and §41-9-12, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, defines a guest as follows:

"'Guest' defined.---For the purpose of this section the term 'guest' is hereby defined as being a person who accepts a ride in any vehicle without giving compensation therefor."

#### CONSTITUTIONAL CHALLENGES TO THE UTAH GUEST STATUTE

The Appellant challenges the constitutionality of the Utah Guest Statute as being in violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, Section 1, of the United States Constitution, as follows:

" All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof,

are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they reside. No state shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws."

and the Equal Protection Provision of the Utah State Constitution in Article I, Section 2, as follows:

" All political power is inherent in the people; and all free governments are founded on their authority for their equal protection and benefit, and they have the right to alter or reform their government as the public welfare may require."

and Article I, Section 7, Utah State Constitution, as follows:

" No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law."

and the right to be compensated for injuries, as stated in Article I, Section 11, of the Utah Constitution, as follows:

" All courts shall be open, and every person, for an injury done to him in his person, property or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law, which shall be administered without denial or unnecessary delay; and no person shall be barred from prosecuting or defending before any tribunal in this State, by himself or counsel, any civil cause to which he is a party."

and the Uniform operation of laws provision in Article I, Section 24, as follows:

" All laws of a general nature shall have uniform operation."

A recent 1978 Utah Law Review article by David K. Broadbent, page 509, discusses the Utah Guest Statute, "The Utah Guest

Statute: Has It Over Stayed Its Welcome?" This article, on page 510, quotes Dean Prosser as follows:

" The typical guest act case is that of the driver who offers his friend a lift to the office or invites him out to dinner, negligently drives him into a collision, and fractures his skull, after which the driver and his insurance company take refuge in the statute, step out of the picture, and leave the guest to bear his own loss. If this is good social policy, it at least appears under a novel front."

This article, further, discusses the guest statutes, their origin, and rejection, further, on page 510, as follows:

## "II. BACKGROUND OF AUTOMOBILE GUEST STATUTES

### A. Common Law Origins

" The development of the automobile early in this century made it necessary for courts to determine the respective rights and duties of a driver and his guest. A small minority of courts held that only in cases of gross negligence would drivers be liable for injuries to non-paying guests. Such a standard was derived by analogizing automobile drivers to the common law gratuitous bailee, and reasoning that 'justice requires that the one who undertakes to perform a duty gratuitously should not be under the same measure of obligation as one who enters upon the same undertaking for pay.' The majority of courts rejected the bailment analogy, insisting that society has a greater interest in human life and limb than in preserving property. A host driver was consequently held by most courts to the stricter standard of reasonable care.

### B. Rise of the Guest Statutes

" The rationale that one who undertakes a gratuitous task should be held to a lesser standard of care than one who receives compensation for his services was never accepted in more than a few courts. It did, however, become the policy underlying automobile guest statutes. Enactment of the

statutes in twenty-seven states between 1922 and 1939 has been attributed to an intense lobbying effort on the part of liability insurance companies.

" The Utah Guest Statute, enacted in 1935, was patterned after California's guest act and was introduced to the legislature at the request of the insurance industry. The statute denies any right of recovery to automobile guests who are injured or killed due to the host's negligence unless the guest's injuries or death result from the willful misconduct or intoxication of the host driver. A guest is defined as one 'who accepts a ride in any vehicle without giving compensation therefor.'

### III. EQUAL PROTECTION CHALLENGES TO THE UTAH GUEST STATUTE

" In its purest form, equal protection of the law means that no group of individuals are 'classified' so as to receive treatment by the law different from that received by the rest of society. Recognizing, however, that classifications are inherent in any legislative act, courts have usually given latitude [sic] to state legislatures in formulating classes for separate treatment. With the exception of cases involving 'suspect classifications' or 'fundamental interest,' which require a greater degree of judicial scrutiny, the United States Supreme Court, in deciding the constitutionality of various statutes, has applied a 'rational relation' test, also described as 'restrained review.' Under this test, statutes pass equal protection muster as long as the classifications do not rest 'on grounds wholly irrelevant to the achievement of the State's objective' and do not result in 'invidious discrimination.' In extreme deference to legislative acts, courts have occasionally hypothesized legislative intent and purpose to sustain otherwise questionable legislation. Because of this wide leeway granted to legislation and the failure of the courts to require a rational relation in fact between the classifications and objectives of a statute, the 'rational relation' test has been characterized as offering 'minimal scrutiny in theory and virtually none in fact.'

" In recent years the United States Supreme Court has required a closer relationship between a statute's

classifications and its objectives. In McGinnis v. Royster, 410 U.S., 263 (1973), for example, Justice Powell's majority opinion inquired whether 'the challenged distinction rationally furthered some legitimate, articulated state purpose' and insisted that the state's purpose for the statute be nonillusory.' In Reed v. Reed, 404 U.S., 71 (1971), where the Court purported to apply a minimum scrutiny test, equal protection was held to require that the classification 'be reasonable, not arbitrary, (and that it) rest upon some ground of difference having a fair and substantial relation to the object of the legislation . . . .' At the same time, many state courts are more strictly scrutinizing legislative classifications that do not fall within the 'suspect classification' or 'fundamental interest' categories, and several courts have accordingly stricken state quest statute legislation. In Brown v. Merlo, 506 P.2d, 212, for example, the California Supreme Court declared:

' Although by straining our imagination we could possibly derive a theoretically "conceivable," but totally unrealistic, state purpose that might support this classification scheme, we do not believe our constitutional adjudicatory function should be governed by such a highly fictional approach to statutory purpose. We recognize that in past years several Federal equal protection cases have embraced such an excessively artificial analysis in applying the traditional "rational basis" equal protection test . . . . (But) we believe that it would be inappropriate to rely on a totally unrealistic "conceivable" purpose to sustain the present statute . . . .'

"Under this new test, characterized as traditional equal protection with bite, judicial deference to conjectural legislative purposes wanes as courts look for actual, articulated purposes."

As is indicated in this article, there must be some reasonable factual basis or rational classification to deny citizens

equal protection under the Fourteenth Amendment, Section 1, of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 2, of the Utah State Constitution, which give "equal protection" to all citizens. It, further, appears that this statute is in violation of Article I, Section 24, of the Utah Constitution in that it does not have "uniform operation with other laws; and, further, contrary to Article I, Section 11, in that it denies regress to "every person, for an injury done to him in his person." It is obvious to anyone who has had any experience with personal injury litigation that this law is the "creator of fraud" and the collusion is between the defendant and his insurance company rather than the driver and the host guest. It is "ludicrous" to assume Appellant and Respondent agreed to have this accident so that Appellant would sustain in excess of \$5,000 in medical bills and have a crippled leg for the rest of his life.

The Michigan Supreme Court in Stevens v. Stevens, 355, Mich., 363, 94, N.W.2d, 858, discussed the injustice in allowing a person to recover if their personal property were damaged by host driver as follows:

" The friends of the driver . . . must suffer injury at his hands without recompense, solaced only by the thought that, after all, the skull was cracked by a friendly hand . . . . **Why?** Because the relationship between them was one of trust and friendship. No money had changed hands. If, however, not the neighbor himself is carried to town,

but rather his livestock to the slaughterhouse, many modern courts will permit full recovery for injury to the unfortunate animal through failure to use reasonable care for its safety. Is this one answer of an enlightened people to the hallowed question: 'How much then is a man better than a sheep?'

The assumption by legislators that collusion would be created between driver and the host has no factual basis in reality. How many people would "plan an automobile accident" with the uncertainty as to the extent of injury to recover "easy money." With the discovery methods and rights of medical examinations by the defendant, the possibilities of some insurance company being victimized are at or less than zero. Any plaintiff can "fake injury" in any negligence action or any case, and the legislature has not yet decided to disallow all rights of recovery for all injuries because of this possibility. Why, then, is there any rational basis to say to the "slaughtered guest" you cannot recover for the driver's wrongdoing because you were sitting in his car? In some situations in the negligence field an "invited guest" is offered a higher degree of protection than the general public, e.i., maintenance of premises, etc.

Regarding the ability of our judicial process to avoid injustice and fraud or collusion claims, the California Supreme Court in Klein v. Klein, 376 P.2d, 70, stated as follows:

"It would be a sad commentary on the law if we were to admit that the judicial processes are so

ineffective that we must deny relief of a person otherwise entitled simply because in some future case a litigant may be guilty of fraud or collusion. Once that concept were accepted, then all causes of action should be abolished. Our legal system is not that ineffectual."

There have been numerous Utah Supreme Court cases construing the guest statute in recent years. The most recent case is Strange v. Ostlund, 594 P.2d, 877, where the court was almost ready to "sua sponte" raise this issue on its own. Our supreme court should now follow the decisions of several other states in holding that the guest statute is in violation of provisions of the constitution, mentioned herein.

A recent annotation in 66 A.L.R.3d, 532, contains a general discussion of the constitutionality of guest statutes and the trend in recent years. As of the writing of this article in 1975, as indicated on page 566, several states have now held guest statutes to be in violation of the equal protection clause of the United State Constitution. California, in Brown v. Merlo, decided in 1973, in 506 P.2d, 212, declared the California Guest Statute to be unconstitutional at least in so far as it applied to guests other than the owner of the vehicle in question on the ground that it was in conflict with the state and federal constitutional guarantees of the equal protection of the laws. The court found there were two proffered justifications of the guest statute, the protection of hospitality and the elimination of collusive law suits but concluded that neither constitute

a rational basis for the different treatment actually accorded by the statute classifications scheme.

As indicated in the A.L.R. annotation on page 540:

"The arguments are myriad as to why guest statutes fail to achieve their stated purposes and purported justifications. It is difficult to find independent opinion in defense of the merits of these statutes and the commentators and law review contributors are particularly unanimous in condemnation of them."

The State of Idaho, in the recent case of Thompson v. Haqan, 523 P.2d, 1365, decided in 1974 the Idaho Guest Statute was declared to be unconstitutional.

The purported justifications for the guest statute promoting hospitality, eliminating collusive law suits, and placing the automobile guest into parity with a trespasser on real property, were examined by the Idaho Court. The conclusion was reached that denial to a motor vehicle guest of a cause of action against his host did not bear any rational relationship to any of those objectives. In this case, the Idaho Court states, on page 1368, as follows:

"To prevent the risk of fraudulent collusion, the Guest Statute eliminates a negligence cause of action for all guests. If, as the rationals suggests, a host will agree to fraudulently state that he was negligent, there is nothing preventing him from stating that he was grossly negligent or intoxicated in order that the guest may recover from the insurer."

The State of Kansas, in Henry v. Boudier, 1974, cited in 518 P.2d, 362, likewise held the Kansas Guest Statute to be unconstitutional as a denial of equal protection under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and the Kansas Bill Of Rights.

THE UTAH GUEST STATUTE IS IN VIOLATION OF THE UNIFORM OPERATION PROVISION OF THE UTAH STATE CONSTITUTION

The guest statute is contrary to Article I, Section 2 and Article I, Section 24, of the Utah State Constitution. As indicated, Article I, Section 2 allows regress to "every person for injury done to him and his person." Article I, Section 24 states that the laws must "have uniform operation with other laws."

In a 1978 Wyoming case, Nehring v. Russell, 582 P.2d, 67, the Wyoming Supreme Court, with an identical constitutional provision guaranteeing "uniform operation of the laws," held that the Wyoming Guest Statute violated that provision of the Wyoming State Constitution. The court, considering the "legislative ends of hospitality and gratuity" stated, on page 78, as follows:

" We as well fail to see how total denial of recovery through the distinction the statute draws can rationally be found to promote the legislative ends of hospitality and gratuity. Even if at the time of passage of a majority of the existing guest statutes a lack of automobile liability insurance allowed a rational basis to be found, such justification has been eroded away by time and changing circumstances."

Concerning the argument that the guest statutes "prevent collusion," the Wyoming court, further, held, on page 79, as follows:

". . . Yet in furthering this obvious legitimate state interest in the prevention of collusion, the statute eliminates all negligence causes of action for nonpaying passengers, a technique reminiscent of employing a cannon to kill a flea. Not only is such a method grossly over-inclusive, doing away with negligence actions for an entire class of persons solely because some portion thereof may be 'tainted by the mischief,' it is impractical as well. If the mischievous parties would be tempted to commit perjury or aid and abet a false claim on the issue of liability to allow recovery, wouldn't they be just as tempted to lie about the payment of compensation for the ride and avoid the statute in that way? McGeehan v. Bunch, supra. Our judicial system is not helpless in this area, as it is well armed with numerous implements for prevention and detection of fraud including the penalties for perjury as well as the tools of cross-examination and various discovery devices. As stated in Emery v. Emery, 1955, 45 Cal.2d 421, 431, 289 P.2d 218, 225:

'Courts must depend upon the efficacy of the judicial processes to ferret out the meritorious from the fraudulent in particular cases.'

"By barring all suits by guest passengers for ordinary negligence, the guest statute exceeds all bounds of rationality and in so doing constitutes a denial of uniform operation under the Wyoming Constitution.

" By way of summary, we conclude that the distinction drawn by the Wyoming guest statute between those denied and those permitted recovery for injuries inflicted by ordinary negligence do not bear a substantial nor rational relation to the statute's ascribed purposes of promoting hospitality, protecting against ingratitude, and preventing collusive lawsuits. We therefore hold that the Wyoming guest

statute violates the guarantee of a uniform operation of laws established by § 34, Article I, Wyoming Constitution. Further, cognizant that the determination is ours to make, we conclude that in consideration of all the factors and any prior reliances involved, our holding should be applied prospectively only, i. e., to this action and all cause of action accruing after 30 days following the date of this decision."

In 1975 the Nevada Supreme Court in Laakonen v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 538 P.2d, 574, concluded that the Nevada Guest Statute was in violation of Article IV, Section 21 of the Nevada Constitution, which provides, with identical language as Article I, Section 24 of the Utah Constitution, that "all laws shall be general and of uniform operation throughout the state"; and that it, further, violated the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. That court, on page 579, held as follows:

" We conclude, therefore, that the denial of recovery for negligently inflicted injuries to those who by chance fall within the provisions of NRS 41.180 does not bear a substantial and rational relation to the statute's purposes of protecting the hospitality of the host driver and in preventing collusive lawsuits. Such irrational discrimination cannot stand in light of the applicable constitutional standards. It is ordered that a writ of mandamus shall issue, directing the district court to enter an order of partial summary judgment, declaring NRS 41.180 unconstitutional."

The State of North Dakota in Johnson v. Hassett in 217 N.W.2d, 771, decided in 1974, also, found their statute to be

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