1981

Steven L. Malan v. James C. Lewis and Brett Lewis : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action for damages for personal injuries arising out of an automobile accident wherein appellant was a guest.

DISPOSITION BELOW

Based upon a stipulation entered into by the parties, the District Court of Weber County determined that the defendant-respondent was entitled to a Summary Judgment against the plaintiffs of no cause of action on the plaintiff's Complaint.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant-respondent requests that the judgment of the District Court be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent disagrees with the statement of facts set forth in appellant's brief to some extent. Particularly, respondent disagrees with appellant's statement relative to the fact that the appellant will have to wear a leg brace for the remainder of his life, or to the extent of his injuries claimed. These facts, however, are immaterial to the issues involved in this appeal. The appellant acknowledges that he was a guest in the respondent's vehicle and that the Guest Statute, if valid, would be dispositive of his claim. The only issue on appeal involves a constitutionality of Section 41-9-1, Utah Code Annotated, the Utah Automobile Guest Statute. (R.40-41).

ARGUMENT

I. THE UTAH AUTOMOBILE GUEST STATUTE IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

Even though the appellant has not designated his argument point by point, it would appear that the argument raised in the appellant's brief is that the Utah Automobile Guest Statute is unconstitutional in that it violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, Section 1, of the United States Constitution,

and also the Equal Protection Provision of the Utah State Constitution, Article I, Section 2, and that it further violates Article I, Section 7, and Article I, Section 11, as well as Article I, Section 24. Appellant does not, however, cite this court's decision of Cannon v. Oviatt, 520 P.2d 883 (1974) in which basically all of those same arguments were made by the appellants, and rejected by this court. Instead, the appellant has relied upon the decision of the California Supreme Court, Brown v. Merlo, 106 Cal Rptr. 388, 506 P.2d 212, to question the constitutionality of the Utah Guest Statute; Section 41-9-1, Utah Code Annotated. In Brown, the California Supreme Court held the California Guest Statute unconstitutional as being violative of the Equal Protection Clauses of the United States and the California Constitutions. The arguments advanced in appellant's brief are substantially the same as were adopted by the California Supreme Court. Those arguments were rejected by this court in the Cannon case, and have also been rejected by the Supreme Courts of the United States as well as numerous state Supreme Courts.

In approaching the ultimate issue to be decided, the court should bear in mind that all presumptions favor the constitutionality of any legislative enactment.

It has been stated many times by this court that a statute is presumed to be constitutional unless it clearly violates some specific provision of the constitution; that if any reasonable construction can be made to harmonize the statute with constitutional provisions, it will be so construed; that the party questioning a statute has the burden of proving its unconstitutionality; that a constitutional violation must be clear, complete and unmistakable; and that constitutionality of a statute transcends its destruction unless so obviously unreasonable as to have no basis for its existence. State v. Acker, 26 Utah 2d 104, 485 P.2d 1038; Allen v. Rampton, 23 Utah 2d 336, 463 P.2d 7; Branch v. Salt Lake County Service Area #2, 23 Utah 2d 181, 460 P.2d 814; Norton v. Department of Employment Security, 22 Utah 2d 24, 447 2d 907; Trade Commission v. Skaggs Drug Centers, Inc., 21 Utah 2d 431, 436 P.2d 958. Thus the question presented is not whether it is possible to condemn the Act, but whether it is possible to uphold it.

In interpreting the Constitution of the United States, this court cannot look to the State of California, but must look to the United States Supreme Court as its primary authority. It is interesting to note that the appellant makes no mention of the United States Supreme

Court cases in his brief. Yet that court has spoken on this very issue. The leading case is Silver v. Silver, 280 U.S. 118, 50 S.Ct. 57, 74 L.Ed. 221 (1929), wherein the constitutionality of the Connecticut Automobile Guest Statute was questioned. It was argued in that case that the statute created an unreasonable classification between automobile guests and other types of guests. In rejecting that argument, the United States Supreme Court held as follows:

"The use of the automobile as an instrument of transportation is particularly the subject of regulation. We cannot assume that there are no evils to be corrected or permissible social objects to be gained by the present statute. We are not unaware of the increasing frequency of litigation in which passengers carried gratuitously in automobiles, often casual guests or licensees, have sought the recovery of large sums for injuries alleged to have been due to negligent operation.

. . . Whether there has been a serious increase in the evils of vexatious litigation in this class of cases, where the carriage is by automobile, is for legislative determination, and, if found, may well be the basis of legislative action further restricting the liability. Its wisdom is not the concern of the court.

It is said that the vice in the statute is not that it distinguishes between the passengers who pay and those who do not, but between gratuitous pass-

engers in automobiles and those in other classes of vehicles. But it is not so evident that no grounds exist for the distinction that we can say a priori that the classification is one forbidden as without basis and arbitrary.

Granted that the liability to be imposed upon those who operate any kind of vehicle for the benefit of a mere guest or licensee is an appropriate subject of legislative restriction, there is no constitutional requirement that a regulation, in other respects permissible, must reach every class to which it might be applied--that the legislature must be held rigidly to the choice of regulating all or none. . . In this day of almost universal highway transportation by motorcar, we cannot say that abuses originating in the multiplicity of suits growing out of the gratuitous carriage of passengers in automobiles do not present so conspicuous an example of what the legislature may regard as an evil, as to justify legislation aimed at it, even though some abuses may not be hit. . . It is enough that the present statute strikes at the evil where it is felt and reaches the class of cases where it most frequently occurs."

Thus, the Connecticut Guest Statute was upheld.

Many years after the Silver case decision, a constitutional challenge was made in the State of Illinois against the Illinois Guest Statute. The Illinois Supreme Court held the statute to be constitutional in the case of Clarke v. Storchak, 384 Ill. 564, 52 N.E. 2d 229 (1944). The decision was appealed to the United States

Supreme Court in Clarke v. Storchak, 332 U.S. 713, 64 S. Ct. 1270, 88 L.Ed. 1555 (1944). Again, the state court decision was affirmed. In a one sentence per curiam decision, the appeal was dismissed for want of a substantial federal question, citing Silver v. Silver as the controlling authority.

It is significant to note that since the Silver case, eleven states, including California, have recently held that Guest Statutes are not unconstitutional; Illinois, Texas, Iowa, Utah, Delaware, Oregon, Colorado, Nebraska, South Dakota, Alabama, and California.

Since the decision in Brown v. Merlo, 8 Cal. 3d 855, 106 Cal. Rptr. 388, 506 P.2d 212, the California Court sitting en banc in Schwalbe v. Jones, 128 Cal. Rptr. 321, 546 P.2d 1033 (1976), has held that a reenacted guest statute denying recovery to the owner-passenger of an automobile except in cases of intoxication or willful misconduct of the driver is not unconstitutional in denying equal protection of the law. In this case, the California Court held that in making a distinction between owner-passengers and non-owner-passengers the legislature may take into consideration the fact that the owner

generally has the right to direct and control the driver and as such there is a reasonable basis for the distinction.

As a practical matter, an owner sitting as a passenger probably can exercise no right of control in most accident situations. Accidents simply occur too quickly to allow an exercise of a right of control. In reality, it seems that the California Court has awakened to the idea that it could not substitute its wisdom for the wisdom of the legislature in determining whether a law is or is not desirable. The Schwalbe court said:

Plaintiffs, in order to sustain their position that Section 17158 denies them equal protection of the laws, must not be content to argue that the above reasoning was unwise, or that the purpose of the Legislature could have been better furthered by another means. Nor is it enough for them to show that the law-makers, in addressing similar problems in similar areas, have made dissimilar judgments. The burden cast upon them is that of demonstrating that the means chosen by the Legislature were irrational or that the purpose which they furthered was not a legitimate legislative concern. This they have not done. As the foregoing analysis indicates, the Legislature, pursuing the clearly legitimate goal of achieving a fair distribution of liability for damage caused by unreasonable conduct, concluded that the owner of a motor vehicle, whether he drives it himself or selects another to act as his chauffeur, should not recover for injuries sustained by him due to the negligent operation of

that vehicle--especially in light of the fact that in the case of the surrogate driver any such recovery would be at the expense of the driver. We may disagree with this conclusion, but we cannot brand it as beyond the pale of reason. To do so would be to seriously erode our constitutional function. We conclude therefore that the motion for nonsuit on the negligence count was properly granted.

Since an owner-passenger furnishes his car, there is an excellent argument that he gives compensation and is in fact a passenger for hire. Is it reasonable to do as California has done and say that owner-passengers cannot recover and that gratuitous guests can? Should a court substitute its wisdom for that of the legislature, as California has done, or should it not?

A number of law review articles, American Law Report Annotations, and cases from other states are cited in support of the appellant's proposition. However, the appellant fails to cite the Utah Supreme Court decision of Cannon v. Oviatt, 520 P.2d 883 (1974), in which the exact same constitutional arguments relied upon by the appellant were raised and fully argued in the consolidated cases decided under the Cannon decision.

This court framed the issues involved in the Cannon case in the first paragraph of its decision where the factual and legal circumstances were stated as follows:

"The appeals of the plaintiffs, which arose out of separate and unrelated actions, have been consolidated since they involve one common question of law, namely, was Section 41-9-11, U.C.A. 1953, unconstitutional? Each plaintiff, while a guest in a motor vehicle, moving upon a public highway in this state, sustained personal injuries in a vehicular accident. Each plaintiff initiated an action against his host, the driver of the vehicle, to recover damages for the negligent operation of the vehicle. Each host asserted Section 41-9-11, U.C.A. 1953, as a defense and denied liability. Each plaintiff urged unsuccessfully before the trial court that the Guest Statute, 41-9-11, U.C.A. 1953, denied him equal protection of the law under the Constitution of the United States (Fourteenth Amendment), and the Constitution of Utah (Article I Section 24)."

A reading of the appellant's brief, even though the arguments are not set out point by point, makes it abundantly clear that the gravamen of the plaintiff's attack on the Guest Statute is exactly the same as the gravamen of the attack of the Guest Statute in Cannon. The constitutional attack under both the United States Constitution and the Constitution of Utah is the same in this case as it was in the Cannon case.

This court, in rejecting the various arguments raised in the Brown case, and refusing to adopt the law of the Brown case, pointed out, in Cannon, that while the California court in the Brown case found as an

aspect of irrationality of the statutory classification that numerous statutory exceptions had rendered recovery under the Guest Statute largely fortuitous in view of the various circumstances in which the statute was not applicable, such a problem did not exist with regard to the Utah Statute. Furthermore, this court said, the Equal Protection Clause does not compel the State to either attack every aspect of the problem or to refrain from any action at all, but, instead, it is sufficient that the State's action be rationally based and free from invidious discrimination. The law of the case adopted in Cannon, which is still the law of the State of Utah, can be readily defined in two short paragraphs found on pages 888 and 889 of the decision, respectively, where it is stated:

"Section 49-9-11, U.C.A. 1953, was enacted to provide some protection to a generous host, who is sued by his invited guest for ordinary negligence, when the rider has given no compensation as an inducement for making the trip or furnishing the carriage for the rider. This act subserved a valid legislative purpose to encourage hospitality in the use of the public highways. Furthermore, the automobile guest in this jurisdiction is not placed in a distinct classification, where he alone as a recipient of generosity is deprived of the duty of due care by his host."

"The interpretation of the Guest Statute by this court has averted the alleged irrationality in the statutory classification which disturbed the court in Brown v. Merlo. Furthermore, the Equal Protection Clause does not compel the state to attack every aspect of a problem or to refrain from any action at all; it is sufficient that the State's action be rationally based and free from invidious discrimination."

Equal Protection, of course, requires that classifications be reasonable and not arbitrary, and have a fair and substantial relation to the object of the legislation. There must be a rational basis for the classification. The Utah Statute does not purport to single out any particular group or give any special treatment to anyone. It applies to all operators of motor vehicles and their guests. None are excluded. All persons who ride as guests in such vehicles are precluded from recovering from injury, death, or loss caused by the driver's ordinary negligence. All people who accept transportation in a motor vehicle as guests without payment are included.

Appellant has suggested that the purpose of the Guest Statute is to protect hospitality and to prevent collusive lawsuits. These objectives, although belittled by the appellant, have been considered proper by the

tribunal of our land as well as by numerous state Supreme Courts as previously cited, including the Supreme Court of the State of Utah. It must also be noted that the protection of hospitality is not limited to the automobile guest. This same principle has traditionally run through many fields of law; for example, the gratuitous bailee and the bailee for hire, the common carrier and private carrier, the inkeeper and the ordinary host, and the trespassor and the business invitee. The protection of hospitality has been ingrained into our legal system. As stated in the case of Silver v. Silver, 108 Conn. 371, 143 A. 240,

"There is inherent justice in the requirement that one who undertakes to perform a duty gratuitously should not be under the same measure of obligation as one who enters upon the same undertaking for pay."

Nor is it unusual for the legislature to pass special legislation applicable only to automobiles. The automobile itself provides a basis for classification. Examples of such legislation not applicable to other fields of tort law are laws that make the owner of a vehicle responsible for the negligence of minors (41-2-22, Utah Code Annotated); laws imposing requirements for driving automobiles (41-2-1, et seq. Operator's and

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